Case No. 84739

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ADAM SULLIVAN, P.E., NEVADA
STATE ENGINEER, et al.

Appellants,

vs.

LINCOLN COUNTY WATER
DISTRICT, et al.

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Dec 08 2022 10:20 PM
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Consolidated with
Case Nos. 84741, 84742, and 84809

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
District Court Case No. A-20-816761- C
(Consolidated with Case Nos. A-20-817765-P, A-20-818015-P, A-20-817977-P,
A-20-818069-P, A-20-817840-P, A-20-817876-P, A-21-833572-J)

APPELLANTS' JOINT OPENING BRIEF

Aaron D. Ford
Attorney General
Heidi Parry Stern
NV Bar No. 8873
Jeffrey M. Conner
NV Bar No. 11543

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal of an administrative action brought under NRS 533.450 concerning determinations made in Nevada State Engineer Order 1309 (“Order 1309”).¹ This appeal is from a final judgment of the district court, which vacated Order 1309. Under NRS 533.450(9), parties can appeal a district court’s final judgment to this Court just as in other civil cases.²

Through two orders, the district court disposed of all petitions for judicial review. On April 19, 2022, after full briefing and oral argument, the district court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Petitions for Judicial Review, granting the petitions for judicial review filed by Coyote Springs Investment, LLC (“CSI”), Lincoln County Water District and Vidler Water Company (“Lincoln-Vidler”), Nevada Cogeneration Associates Numbers 1 and 2 (“Nevada Cogen”), Apex Holding Company, LLC and Dry Lake Water, LLC (“Apex”) and Georgia-Pacific Gypsum LLC and Republic Technologies, Inc. (“Georgia-Pacific”). The first Notice of Entry of Order was served on April 19, 2022.³

On May 13, 2022, the district court issued an Addendum and Clarification to the Court’s Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Granting Petitions for

¹ NRAP 17(a)(8).

² NRAP 3A(b)(1).

³ J.A. Vol. 49, at JA_23294-23337.

Judicial Review Filed on April 19, 2022 (“Addendum”), granting in part and dismissing in part LVVWD and SNWA’s petition for judicial review, and dismissing in their entirety Muddy Valley Irrigation Company’s (“MVIC”) and Center for Biological Diversity’s (“CBD”) petitions for judicial review. Notice of Entry of Order of the Addendum was served on May 16, 2022.⁴

These decisions were appealed by the State Engineer on May 13, 2022, as amended on May 19, 2022, by CBD on May 16, 2022, by SNWA on May 19, 2022, and by the MVIC on May 26, 2022.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(8), this appeal is properly before this Court as it relates to an administrative agency case involving water.

ISSUES PRESENTED⁵

1. Whether the State Engineer had legal authority to delineate the Lower White River Flow System (“LWRFS”) as a single hydrological unit for joint administration and conjunctive management of ground and surface water based on its interconnectivity and shared supply of water.

⁴ J.A. Vol. 49, at JA_23338-23350.

⁵ This Court directed the parties to brief the specific issues that are included in this Appellants’ Joint Opening Brief. Order Modifying Caption and Setting Briefing Schedule, October 14, 2022, at 3-4; Order Clarifying Briefing Scheduling, October 27, 2022, at 4.

2. Whether the State Engineer, before issuing Order 1309, afforded adequate due process to parties below regarding (A) the notice and hearing procedure, (B) the decision to subject the LWRFS to conjunctive management and joint administration, and (C) the use of six criteria to evaluate evidence presented by stakeholders regarding hydrologic connectivity within the LWRFS.⁶

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a district court order vacating State Engineer Order 1309 (“Order 1309”).⁷ Order 1309 consists of factual findings that the State

⁶ Appellants SNWA and MVIC were the only petitioners in the district court with even a colorable claim that they were deprived of an actual property interest. SNWA and MVIC asserted similar challenges to two paragraphs on pages 60-61 of Order 1309 about the absence of a conflict between current groundwater pumping and senior decreed rights in the Muddy River because those determinations constituted an adjudication of rights that exceeded the scope of the hearing notice. J.A. Vol. 1, at JA_6-7, 161-162. Despite SNWA and MVIC’s presentation of similar challenges to the same provisions of Order 1309, the district court issued a contradictory ruling when it partially granted SNWA’s petition on due process grounds but denied MVIC’s petition in its entirety. J.A. Vol. 49, at JA_23346.

To the extent the challenged paragraphs can be read as an adjudication of the absence of a conflict with SNWA and MVIC's rights under the Muddy River Decree, the State Engineer agrees that such determination, as asserted by SNWA and MVIC, exceeded the scope of the hearing notice. Accordingly, the State Engineer, SNWA, and MVIC respectfully request the Court affirm the District Court’s decision in the Addendum to the extent it granted SNWA’s petition and reverse, in part, the denial of MVIC’s petition on the basis that the challenged paragraphs on pages 60-61 exceeded the scope of the hearing notice. However, to the extent SNWA and MVIC assert any groundwater pumping within the LWRFS creates a *per se* conflict with rights adjudicated in the Muddy River Decree, the State Engineer reserves the right to address that issue when it is properly ripe for adjudication in future proceedings.

⁷ J.A. Vol. 49, at JA_23338-50.

Engineer made regarding the over-appropriation of the LWRFS.⁸ Order 1309 followed the investigative phase of a statutorily mandated, multi-phased administrative process, and was limited to establishing threshold factual findings that are critical to yet-to-be-made groundwater management decisions.⁹

Nevada law requires the State Engineer define groundwater aquifers in order to effectively manage Nevada's groundwater.¹⁰ In Order 1309, the State Engineer relied on decades of scientific investigations to define the boundaries of the LWRFS, an area that overlies a *carbonate aquifer* that is underground.¹¹ He also confirmed the LWRFS aquifer is a significant source of water contributing to the flows of the Muddy River. That river is fully appropriated by senior decreed water rights and provides critical habitat for the endangered Moapa dace.¹² The findings were authorized, both expressly and implicitly, by numerous statutes.¹³

⁸ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_367-91.

⁹ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_706 at 10:3 (Fairbank) (“And so, and I'm going to talk about this and we've spoken about this before, is that really this is a threshold reporting aspect, that this is part of a multi-tiered process in terms of determining the appropriate management strategy to the Lower River Flow System. And in order for the office to go ahead and start to engage in working with the -- with the community, working with water right holders and determining what an appropriate management strategy is, there's threshold matters that have to be decided and determined.”).

¹⁰ NRS 534.100(1); NRS 534.110(1).

¹¹ The *carbonate aquifer* is a regional groundwater system comprised of geologic formations that consist of, and are referred to as, carbonate rocks. J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_379.

¹² J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_329, 331.

¹³ NRS 534.110(6); *See Wilson v. Pahrump Fair Water, LLC*, 137 Nev. 10, 13, 481 P.3d 853, 856 (2021) (State Engineer powers are expressly or implicitly delegated).

The State Engineer also found the LWRFS is over-appropriated because the annual replenishment of groundwater supply is not adequate to meet existing water rights.¹⁴ Specifically, he found that over 38,000 acre-feet annum (“acre-feet”) of groundwater permits have been issued in the LWRFS, but only 8,000 acre-feet can be sustainably pumped; pumping more than that threatens senior surface water rights and the endangered Moapa dace.¹⁵

Before issuing Order 1309, the State Engineer issued Interim Order 1303 to afford proper notice to all LWRFS groundwater right holders that the State Engineer was only investigating facts at this stage of a multi-phase management process.¹⁶ The State Engineer clearly left policy decisions regarding *if, when or how* regulation or curtailment of existing rights should occur to the later, yet-to-occur, management phases.¹⁷ His office provided more than adequate due process to all interested and potentially affected water rights holders and other persons by

¹⁴ See NRS 534.110(6).

¹⁵ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_367, 388, 390. Appellant CBD and MVIC agree with this statement and statements to this effect through this Opening Brief, to the extent that they properly describe the purpose and scope of the Order 1303 hearing and Order 1309. CBD and MVIC do not agree, however, that the actual pumping limit included in Order 1309 (8,000 afa) is sufficient to prevent impacts to senior existing surface water rights and the Moapa dace and reserves the right to challenge that specific factual determination in future proceedings.

¹⁶ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_487, 706 at 10:3-11:2 (Fairbank). See NRS 534.110(6) (mandating the State Engineer to conduct an investigation and make findings regarding whether annual replenishment is adequate for existing rights before making any curtailment decision).

¹⁷ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_706 at 10:3-11:2 (Fairbank).

conducting multiple public workshops, working group meetings, a pre-hearing conference, and an administrative hearing.¹⁸ The administrative hearing was not an adversarial proceeding, but was a fact-finding exercise that gave all interested stakeholders a full and fair opportunity to be heard on a list of specific factual questions included in Interim Order 1303.¹⁹

The findings in Order 1309 are properly limited to Interim Order 1303's specific list of factual questions. That list certainly included, as did the stakeholders' evidence, references to joint and conjunctive management. The State Engineer articulated the specific criteria for delineating the LWRFS in Order 1309. Due process to stakeholders was proper because those criteria just organized the extensive evidence presented and relied upon by the stakeholders' experts. Also, the criteria summarized the factors – largely drawn from stakeholder experts' own reports and testimony – that the State Engineer found most persuasive in determining which sub-basins were closely connected enough to manage together.²⁰ In short, the “criteria” was not a new set of rules; rather, the criteria were the manner in which the State Engineer organized and condensed the natural

¹⁸ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_336, 703-36, Vol. 23 at JA_10532-90.

¹⁹ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_335-336 (“Reports submitted by interested stakeholders were intended to aid in the fact-finding goals of the Division”), 404, 406-407, 520 (“this matter is not an adversarial proceeding”); 706 at 10:3-11:2 (Fairbank).

²⁰ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_406-07, 486, 706-07 at 10:3-16:3 (Fairbank); *see* NRS 534.110(6).

components of the Stakeholders arguments into an understandable analysis of the evidence.

Order 1309 was appealed to district court, the district court vacated Order 1309, and then this Court issued a stay of the district court's decision.²¹ The district court ignored the clear purpose and express findings of Order 1309 which was only fact-finding. This fundamental error led to an incorrect review of State Engineer authority and due process based on presumptions of what is not in Order 1309.

Relevant to the issues identified by this Court's scheduling order, the district court should have only reviewed the State Engineer's authority to make factual findings regarding the delineation and maximum sustainable pumping limit for the LWRFS, and whether all petitioners had a full and fair opportunity to present their positions regarding those findings. Instead, the district court erroneously interpreted Order 1309 to be a reprioritization of LWRFS groundwater rights, which it expressly was not. The district court then improperly analyzed the authority and due process issues based on the non-existent reprioritization of water rights, which is well beyond the scope and findings of Order 1309.

When reviewed in the proper context – for only its factual findings – Order 1309 should be upheld because the State Engineer is clearly authorized to delineate

²¹ J.A. Vol. 49, at JA_23294-337; Order Granting Stay, October 3, 2022, at 4-5.

aquifers and hydrologic systems in Nevada, and all parties had a full and fair opportunity to present their positions.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Order 1309 is the latest step in the State Engineer's decades-long effort to manage groundwater in the LWRFS. These regulatory steps were necessary because the carbonate aquifer underlying a vast area northeast of Las Vegas is complex and required additional investigation. The LWRFS area has long been considered to have one shared primary water resource – the carbonate aquifer. In Order 1309 the State Engineer built on decades of data and observation to officially delineated the geographic boundary of the LWRFS as part of the investigation he is required to conduct by NRS 534.110(6). Specifically, he concluded the interconnected LWRFS carbonate aquifer encompasses Coyote Spring Valley, Kane Springs Valley, the Muddy River Springs Area, Garnet Valley, Hidden Valley, California Wash, and part of the Black Mountains Area.²²

I. Connection Between LWRFS And The Muddy River

Scientists, the State Engineer, and LWRFS stakeholders have known the Muddy River is hydrologically connected to a groundwater aquifer underlying the LWRFS for over fifty years.²³ The river comes from high-flowing springs that exist

²² J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_379, 390.

²³ J.A. Vol. 5, at JA_2303-54.

in the middle of the desert.²⁴ Since the river’s historic flow is too high and consistent to come from surface runoff in its desert-surroundings, experts concluded long ago that the groundwater from the LWRFS is the Muddy River’s source of supply.²⁵ Specifically, in 1966, unbiased scientists at the United States Geological Survey (“USGS”) concluded that the Muddy River is “being supplied from a large regional groundwater system” that extends over one hundred miles to the north of the Muddy River.²⁶

The entire flow of the Muddy River was fully appropriated prior to 1905.²⁷ Today, SNWA owns nearly half of the Muddy River’s water rights, which provide a critical water supply for residents of Las Vegas.²⁸ Since Muddy River surface water rights have a senior priority date to any groundwater rights, groundwater pumping that intercepts Muddy River water has long been an issue of concern when applicants sought to appropriate groundwater in the LWRFS.²⁹

A. The Regional Carbonate Aquifer

The regional groundwater system that supplies the Muddy River is also called the carbonate aquifer. This means the valleys in the system are connected by

²⁴ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_331.

²⁵ J.A. Vol. 27, at JA_11842.

²⁶ J.A. Vol. 5, at JA_2907.

²⁷ J.A. Vol. 13, at JA_6634–80.

²⁸ J.A. Vol. 4, at JA_1935-2023; Vol. 44, at JA_17784 at 997:16-998:21.

²⁹ J.A. Vol. 3, at JA_920-1070; Vol. 32, at JA_14902-938; Vol. 46, at JA_18708-47.

a geologic feature (carbonate rock) that is deep underground, connects valleys, and transmits water.³⁰ Since 1964, the USGS and State Engineer have recognized that Coyote Spring Valley, Kane Springs Valley, and the Muddy River Springs Area share a perennial yield and are part of a larger groundwater system comprised of neighboring and upgradient valleys.³¹ In other words, long ago the USGS concluded, and the State Engineer concurred, that the carbonate aquifer allows groundwater to flow under Coyote Spring and Kane Springs Valleys from areas farther north, to the Muddy River. The carbonate aquifer's unique nature means that the same groundwater from the northernmost boundary flows underground all the way south to the Muddy River's headwaters, demonstrating that the purportedly separate hydrographic basins were not, in fact, separate.

B. The Moapa Dace and the Muddy River Springs

The Moapa dace is a fish that is listed as endangered under the Federal Endangered Species Act.³² The Moapa dace exists only in the headwater springs that form the Muddy River.³³ Habitat for the fish depends on spring flows from the carbonate aquifer.³⁴ In Order 1309, the State Engineer found that groundwater pumping in the LWRFS negatively impacts spring flows and, consequently, the

³⁰ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_371.

³¹ J.A. Vol. 5, at JA_2337.

³² J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_329.

³³ J.A. Vol. 28, at JA_11970.

³⁴ J.A. Vol. 28, at JA_11970.

habitat for the Moapa dace, and maintaining spring flows above a critical level is necessary to prevent population losses and unlawful “take” of the species.³⁵

II. Groundwater Applications In The LWRFS

In the 1980s, applications were filed to appropriate over 300,000 acre-feet of regional groundwater in Coyote Spring Valley and the surrounding interconnected basins.³⁶ But, already in 1964, the USGS concluded that without the water flowing in the carbonate aquifer, only 2,600 acre-feet of water was available in Coyote Spring Valley, Kane Springs Valley, and the Muddy River Springs Area.³⁷ By 1980, that 2,600 afa was already appropriated. All that remained was water from the carbonate aquifer.³⁸

To address the new applications, the State Engineer had to determine whether additional water from the carbonate aquifer could be appropriated in Coyote Spring Valley and adjacent valleys.³⁹ For that purpose, in 1984 his office joined with the USGS to complete the Carbonate Terrane Study.⁴⁰ Since extensive pumping and drawdown data was not yet available, the USGS relied on

³⁵ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_370.

³⁶ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_328.

³⁷ J.A. Vol. 5, at JA_2337.

³⁸ State Engineer Ruling 2524 (March 18, 1980), available at <http://images.water.nv.gov/images/rulings/2524r.pdf> (last visited December 7, 2022); State Engineer Ruling 2947 (April 19, 1984) available at <http://images.water.nv.gov/images/rulings/2924r.pdf> (last visited December 7, 2022).

³⁹ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_327-28.

⁴⁰ J.A. Vol. 2, at JA_327; Vol. 46, at JA_18752-824.

groundwater budgets and other theoretical methods to estimate the amount of water available.⁴¹ The estimates varied widely from a few thousand acre-feet based on local recharge, to over 50,000 acre-feet based on the underground carbonate flow from upgradient basins.⁴² But the USGS cautioned that a full understanding of the regional system would take a lot of time and money, and “development of the carbonate water is risky, and the resultant effects may be disastrous for the developers and current users.”⁴³ Because little was known about how much groundwater was available in the carbonate aquifer, the State Engineer granted applications cautiously, and in stages.⁴⁴

A. Application 46777 and Stage 1 Applications

Application 46777 was one of the new appropriation applications that was filed in the 1980s to appropriate water from the regional carbonate aquifer from a well in Coyote Spring Valley.⁴⁵ Nevada Power filed the application, but today CSI

⁴¹ J.A. Vol. 3, at JA_825-27; Vol. 46, at JA_18766.

⁴² J.A. Vol. 3, at JA_828, Vol. 5, at JA_2337. In 2001, the State engineer repeated this sentiment in Order 1169. *Id.*

⁴³ J.A. Vol. 3, at JA_830; Vol. 46, at JA_18752.

⁴⁴ J.A. Vol. 3, at JA_827; Vol. 32, at JA_14917-18.

⁴⁵ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14832, 14905 (“The Point of diversion under Application 46777 is within Coyote Springs Valley Groundwater Basin and just up gradient of the Muddy River Springs Area Groundwater Basin. However, Application 46777 does not seek water from the alluvial aquifer, but rather seeks to appropriate water from deep regional groundwater flow system referred to as the carbonate aquifer. The carbonate aquifer is part of a regional interbasin groundwater flow system identified as the White River System.”).

and SNWA own the water right.⁴⁶ CSI seeks to use water rights originating from Application 46777 for its proposed housing development.⁴⁷ The United States and Nevada’s Department of Wildlife filed protests against Application 46777 based on potential impacts to the Moapa dace.⁴⁸

In 1997, the State Engineer conditionally granted Application 46777, after an evidentiary hearing, with specific permit terms protecting the Muddy River.⁴⁹ In Ruling 4542, the State Engineer stated that protests were withdrawn “on the understanding that *groundwater pumping would be stopped* should the project adversely affect the water table in the Muddy River Springs Area.”⁵⁰ The State Engineer required an early warning monitoring system so that “if, at some future time, it is determined that pumping the [Permit 46777 wells] has adverse effects on the springs [and river . . .] *those effects would be detected early.*”⁵¹ Permit 46777 was issued “subject to existing rights” and with an express warning that the “State Engineer retains the right to regulate the use of the water herein granted *at any and all times.*”⁵² Similar language is in the other LWRFS groundwater permits.⁵³

⁴⁶ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14832, 14872.

⁴⁷ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14832-38, 14872.

⁴⁸ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14902-03.

⁴⁹ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14902-18.

⁵⁰ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14903 (emphasis added).

⁵¹ J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14911 (emphasis added).

⁵² J.A. Vol. 32, at JA_14832-34 (emphasis added).

⁵³ See, J.A. Vol. 13, at JA_6764-69; Vol. 16, at 7490-95; Vol. 27, at JA_11762-81.

B. Order 1169

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