IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ADAM SULLIVAN, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES; SOUTHERN NEVADA WATER AUTHORITY; CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY; AND MUDDY VALLEY IRRIGATION CO.,

Appellants,

VS.

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

ARGUMENT

From 2002 to 2020, every State Engineer determined that Kane Springs should not be included in the multi-basin LWRFS or the multi-basin Order 1169 aquifer test. The 2020 State Engineer abruptly changed course and included Kane Springs water rights in the area he unlawfully determined to be the "LWRFS" without due process of law.

A. <u>Lincoln and Vidler were deprived of due process in the hearing provided by the State Engineer.</u>

The District Court properly applied the Nevada Constitution's protection against deprivation of property without due process of law to water rights. 49 JA 23327. Lincoln and Vidler's existing water rights are entitled to constitutional due process protections. *Eureka County*, 134 Nev. at 281, 417 P.3d at 1126 (recognizing that existing water rights are vested property rights subject to constitutional due process protections).

Every vested or permitted water right is assigned a priority date, and the priority date is an essential component of the water right that cannot be stripped away without damaging the right itself. *Wilson v. Happy Creek, Inc.*, 135 Nev. 301, 312, 448 P.3d 1106, 1115 (2019). The Court has stated that "a loss of priority that renders rights useless 'certainly affects the rights' value' and 'can amount to a de

facto loss of rights." *Andersen Family Assocs. v. Ricci*, 124 Nev. 182, 190-91, 179 P.3d 1201, 1206 (2008).

Order 1309 changed the relative priority of Lincoln and Vidler's water rights. Without notice and an opportunity to be heard, the State Engineer combined seven separate groundwater basins into one "superbasin" and reallocated and reprioritized all water rights within this superbasin as though the vested water rights of each appropriation within the individual basins had been granted in a hypothetical single basin. Counsel for SNWA stated in its argument before the District Court that water rights holders should be concerned about their seniority based on Order 1309. 49 JA 22660-61. SNWA's counsel admitted it is possible that senior rights may have moved down in priority. 49 JA 22661.

First, Lincoln and Vidler had no notice and no opportunity to address the impacts on the relative priority of their water rights or the implications of the State Engineer's determination to conjunctively manage and jointly administer seven previously separate basins as one "LWRFS basin". Kane Springs was not even listed as a basin under consideration in Interim Order 1303 for conjunctive management and joint administration. On its face, Interim Order 1303 was deficient in providing notice and an opportunity for all water right holders in Kane Springs (not just Lincoln and Vidler) that their water rights would be impacted by the Order 1303 hearing proceedings.

Second, there was no notice to permit holders in Kane Springs, just as there was no notice to the other water right holders in the six other basins, that the State Engineer was considering erasing established legal subdivision basin boundaries to create one new overarching superbasin as his conjunctive management and joint administration policy.

While Lincoln and Vidler participated in the Order 1303 proceedings (and even if the State Engineer could legally combine separate basins into one superbasin which Lincoln and Vidler do not concede), there was no notice and opportunity provided for Lincoln and Vidler to address the six criteria the State Engineer determined he would use to evaluate the connectivity of the basins or in determining the new purported consolidated basin boundary. 2 JA 372-73. If Lincoln and Vidler had known the criteria prior to submission of their expert reports and the hearing, they would have addressed the criteria and specifically provided information to address new criteria 5 and 6. 2 JA 373.

In Order 1309, the State Engineer admitted he developed the six "new" criteria from Rulings 6254-6261 based upon the Order 1169 aquifer test as the standard of general applicability for inclusion into the geographic boundary of the LWRFS. 2 JA 372-73. The State Engineer should have articulated that standard in Interim Order 1303 if that was the standard he was going to apply. Lincoln and Vidler (for example) were not parties to the Order 1169 test or Rulings 6255-6261. Criteria 4,

5, and 6 were not contained in Rulings 6254-6261,³ and criteria 4 was specifically relied upon by the State Engineer to exclude Kane Springs from the LWRFS area in Ruling 5712. *See* 3 JA 884. It appears criteria 5 and 6 were created after the submission of evidence and after the hearing and were used to specifically include Kane Springs in the new LWRFS.

The State Engineer's Order 1309 violates due process because it adopted a standard to be applied to Lincoln and Vidler's water rights in Kane Springs after the presentation of evidence and after the hearing. Lincoln and Vidler never had an opportunity in the hearing to address the State Engineer's six criteria and show why Kane Springs should not be included in the LWRFS.

Third, the State Engineer made management and policy decisions in Order 1309 when he erased basin boundaries and created one superbasin, reprioritized all priorities of the seven-basin groundwater right holders, and imposed an 8,000 afa pumping cap. In the Order 1303 Hearing, the hearing officer specifically told the parties not to address management and policy issues related to conjunctive management and joint administration. And the parties could not have understood what the LWRFS area even comprised. How could Lincoln and Vidler address the implications of the State Engineer's decision to combine numerous basins into one

³ It is not clear criteria 2 was explicitly discussed in Rulings 6254-6261.

basin subject to conjunctive management and joint administrative if they did not even know if Kane Springs was going to be included in the superbasin?

The same holds true for the State Engineer's reversal of his previous determinations to keep Kane Springs out of the Order 1169 proceedings including Ruling 5712 in 2007, Order 1169A in 2012, and Interim Order 1303 in 2019. First, Kane Springs was not a basin designated by the State Engineer as a basin in need of administration under NRS 534.030. The Order 1303 Hearing did not even address whether Kane Springs was a basin in need of administration, and the State Engineer skipped the required steps in NRS 534.030. *See* 2 JA 395-96.

Second, previous State Engineers consistently determined Kane Springs would not be jointly administered with the other Order 1169 basins. 2 JA 406; 3 JA 820, 830-31, 884; 2 JA 406. (Ricci in Order 1169, Taylor in Ruling 5712, King in Order 1169A and Order 1303). Interim Order 1303 provided no notice in the five topics that the State Engineer would disregard prior rulings granting vested property rights and include Kane Springs in the LWRFS and the Order 1169 study area. Nor was there notice given that Lincoln and Vidler would be subject to criteria used by the State Engineer to reject applications in other basins in his Rulings issued in 2014. Lincoln and Vidler were not parties to those proceedings. Appellants admit the State Engineer "treated the LWRFS (except Kane Springs Valley) as one aquifer" when issuing these orders. AOB at 15-16.

Lincoln and Vidler had not participated in any of the previous Order 1169 investigation and analysis because Kane Springs was specifically excluded. To hold the Kane Springs basin (and Lincoln and Vidler) to findings the State Engineer made years before in proceedings to which they (and any other Kane Springs water right holders) were specifically excluded is particularly egregious. And, if the State Engineer were going to consider reversing previous contested findings in a ruling awarding vested property rights (Ruling 5712), due process mandates notice and a meaningful opportunity be heard. *Eureka County*, 134 Nev. at 280, 417 P.3d at 1125. Here, the State Engineer failed to provide either notice or a meaningful hearing to Lincoln and Vidler.

Vested water rights are property rights and notice of the issues on which a decision will turn must be provided to water right holders prior to the hearing so they have a meaningful opportunity to address those issues. "A party is entitled, of course, to know the issues on which decision will turn and to be apprised of the factual material on which the agency relies for decision so that he may rebut it." *Bowman Transp., Inc. v. Arkansas-Best Freight Sys., Inc.*, 419 U.S. 281, 288 n.4 (1974) cited with approval in *Eureka Cty. v. State Engineer*, 131 Nev. 846, 855, 359 P.3d 1114, 1120 (2015). This Court quoted *Bowman Transp., Inc.*: "[T]he Due Process Clause forbids an agency to use evidence in a way that forecloses an opportunity to offer a contrary presentation." *Id.*; *see also Eureka County*, 134 Nev.

at 280, 417 P.3d at 1125 ("It is equally fundamental that the right to notice and an opportunity to be heard must be granted at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." (internal citations omitted)).

It is undisputed that the State Engineer excluded Lincoln and Vidler from the Order 1169 proceedings—a fact pointed out to the State Engineer by Lincoln and Vidler in their hearing report: "Lincoln/Vidler are not a party to, nor have ever been a participant of the Order No. 1169 aquifer test proceedings. The [Nevada State Engineer] never requested that Lincoln/Vidler provide a report on the outcome of the Order No. 1169 aquifer test results; hence none was ever developed." 18 JA 7937. Furthermore, one of Vidler's experts reiterated Kane Springs was not in Order 1169 and not a LWRFS area basin. 44 JA 17960 [Oct. 1, 2019 Tr. 1408:1-4].

The State Engineer violated Lincoln and Vidler's due process rights and the District Court's order voiding Order 1309 should be upheld.

B. Without notice and an opportunity to be heard, the State Engineer improperly reweighed the evidence and data and changed his findings made in the Order 1169 proceedings to include Kane Springs in the LWRFS area.

The State Engineer cannot disregard vested property rights without due process of law, yet he provided no notice to Lincoln and Vidler that he would reconsider the evidence and data from the Order 1169 proceedings, reweigh the same evidence to the opposite result, and use that evidence as a basis to include Kane

Springs in the Order 1303 proceedings. *Compare* 2 JA 331 n 21-22, *with* 2 JA 387 n 2-3. Interim Order 1303 topics (a) and (b) for expert reports were:

- a. The geographic boundary of the hydrologically connected groundwater and surface water systems comprising the Lower White River Flow System;
- b. The information obtained from the Order 1169 aquifer test and subsequent to the aquifer test and Muddy River headwater spring flow as it relates to aquifer recovery since the completion of the aquifer test;

2 JA 406.

Topic (a) gave no notice the State Engineer was going to use Order 1169 aquifer test results to redefine the LWRFS. Topic (b) related to aquifer recovery based on the Order 1169 aquifer data, not a reanalysis of the Order 1169 data upon which Kane Springs was excluded as part of the LWRFS. The State Engineer denied Lincoln and Vidler due process in the hearing and decision to reweigh the Order 1169 data to now include Kane Springs in the Order 1169 study area and subject it to conjunctive management and joint administration.

The State Engineer, USFWS, NPS, and the other participants to the Order 1169 proceedings are not entitled to a do-over after failing to include Kane Springs in the LWRFS based upon the proceedings, evidence, and data they analyzed from 2002 to 2014. *See State Eng'r v. Eureka Cty.*, 133 Nev. 557, 559–60, 402 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2017) (water right applicant not entitled to a do over when it failed to submit substantial evidence to support its applications). Lincoln and Vidler were not involved in those proceedings. No participant wanted Kane Springs included in the

LWRFS at that time. Now, based upon the same evidence and data, Kane Springs is being included in the LWRFS. It is highly prejudicial and in violation of Lincoln and Vidler's due process rights for the State Engineer to ignore prior rulings and orders, reweigh evidence and now come to a different (and opposite) conclusion, i.e., that Kane Springs should be included in the LWRFS.

Lincoln and Vidler are not asking the Court to review the evidence—only the procedure used by the State Engineer. If Order 1309 is upheld, including the procedure used, the State Engineer could simply ignore other vested property rights and reverse course for other basins underlain by the carbonate aquifer system, using decades old data to re-evaluate basin boundaries for alleged conjunctive management and joint administration. The State Engineer acknowledged in Order 1169 the thick carbonate aquifer underlies Southern Nevada, north and east to White Pine County, and the Utah border. *See* 3 JA 826. Thus, under the State Engineer's unlawful procedures used in this proceeding, any basin in this expansive area could someday be subject to future conjunctive management and joint administration in the "LWRFS area".

C. The State Engineer violated Lincoln and Vidler's due process rights by overturning his findings made in Ruling 5712.

The State Engineer averred in his Answering Brief in the lower court that he did not have to follow Ruling 5712. 47 JA 19753. This is the first time Lincoln and Vidler heard the State Engineer indicate he did not have to follow Ruling 5712 which

granted senior groundwater rights in Kane Springs and adjudicated protests. The State Engineer never informed Lincoln and Vidler either before or after the issuance of Interim Order 1303 (or in even issuing Order 1309) that he was taking the position he did not have to follow Ruling 5712 in relation to the Order 1169 proceedings or including Kane Springs in the LWRFS area. The State Engineer provided no notice or hearing that he would overturn determinations made in Ruling 5712 which is what Order 1309 effectively did. The State Engineer's failure violated Lincoln and Vidler's due process rights.

"An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonable calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." *Mullane v. Central Hanover Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950).

Nothing in Order 1303 put Lincoln and Vidler on notice that their appropriated water rights in Kane Springs were in jeopardy of losing their priority granted in Ruling 5712. Nothing in Order 1303 put Lincoln and Vidler on notice that the State Engineer would take the position that he did not have to follow previous State Engineer's determinations in a contested proceeding which adjudicated Lincoln and Vidler's water rights applications and granted them property rights. And the State Engineer already knew of the hydrologic connection between Kane Springs and the

carbonate aquifer—he acknowledged this in Ruling 5712. 3 JA 713. Yet Order 1303 said nothing about Kane Springs, and all previous orders and rulings from the State Engineer (including Ruling 5712, Order 1169, and Order 1169A) specifically excluded Kane Springs from the LWRFS.

Appellants argue Ruling 5712 predates the 1169 pump test results and it was therefore within the State Engineer's authority to include Kane Springs in the LWRFS after analyzing the results. AOB 16, n.65. The State Engineer expressly excluded Kane Springs from a test that later provided the basis for its inclusion in the LWRFS area and did not even include Kane Springs in Order 1169A or Interim Order 1303, thus giving Kane Springs water right holders no notice the State Engineer would re-evaluate his determinations in Ruling 5712. Lincoln and Vidler were entitled to certainty and finality knowing what their rights were after they were granted by the State Engineer in 2007. See Mineral Cty. v. Lyon Cty., 136 Nev. 503, 520, 473 P.3d 418, 431 (2020) (Nevada's water right statutes do not permit reallocation of adjudicated rights when implementing the public trust doctrine; allocations of water rights must have *certainty and finality* so that rights holders may effectively direct water usage to its beneficial use, without undue uncertainty or waste). The State Engineer's attempt by Order 1309 to ignore Ruling 5712 and unlawfully reprioritize Lincoln and Vidler's rights under the guise of conjunctive

management and joint administration violated Lincoln and Vidler's due process rights.

D. <u>Appellants' argument completely ignores due process notice requirements.</u>

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